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The last of the war loan bonds were paid Feb. 1,
1870, principal and interest, and all the bonds except
Nos. 1 0 8, both inclusive, for $1c0 each, which were
missing, were burned Feb, 20, 1871

Statement of expenses incurred in aid of the war:—
Paid bounties to 14 volunteers to

Nov. 6, 1863, $100 each,. ... .. $1,400.00
Expenses,........ooviiiet 129.73
Paid bounties to 12 volunteers to

March 17, 1864, $323 cach,... 3,876.00
Paid for printing bonds......... $ri.co

¢ < Internal Revenue Stamps, 4.30

“ ¢ interest on money to De-

lancey Walt,. . .............. 2.23
Paid for interest on money to Rus-

sel Maxson,......oovueinn. .8y

18.40
Paid bounties to 8 volunteers to

May 7, 1864, $375 each,...... 3,000.00
Paid for drafts on New York,.... 72.50
Paid for stamp on joint note,. ... 5.00

—— 7750
Paid bounty to one man enlisted

In Virginld,. ..o ovivvenn e 600.60
Paid Sweet & Wheeler ou con-

tract,® ... 12,030,00
Paid J. A. Coville, . ... ... o0t 30.00
Paid expenses to Washington and

other places to procure recruits, 310.44
Paid Austin J. Packer,.......... 318.99

“ Perez Packer,............. 318.99

“ William Packer,........... 428.32

“ tog persons furnishing substi-

tutes under call of Dec. 19,

1864, $8co each,. ... ... .. 7,200.00
Paid to one persen furnishing sub-

stitute under call of July 18,

T804, v ve it 8oo.00
Amount on deposit in Washington

to pay for one man when enlist-

ed and musiered,......... ... 350.00

Total, ........ fe e $30,885.37

The number who enlisted and were credited to this
town, as appeats from the records, was 86 soldiers
and 13 seamen, of whom 17 were residents of Preston
and 8 of other towns in this couniy; one bore the
rank of captain and three were sergeants; 58 enlisted
for three years, and one each for one and two years-—
with regard to the remainder the term of service is not
indicated ; two were students, thirty-cight farmers,
two shoe-makers, two soldiers, and the professions of
carpenters, boatmen, clerks and laborers each fur-
nished one representative.  So far as is indicated they
were distributed among the various branches of the
service as follows: Infantry regiments, 21 inthe 114th,
8 in the 44th, 2 in the 8oth, 8 in the 14gth, 3 in the
r61st, and 1 each in the 5ath, 43d, rz1st, 75th and
1orst; cavalry regiments, 8 in the roth, 1o in the

* Contract with Sweet & Wheeler for 16 men for $15,000, eight for one year
at the 1ate of $950, and eight for three years, at the rate of $¥,000.

&th, 5 in the z2d and 1 in the sth; artillery regiments,
2 in the 2d, 1 in the 16th; and 1 in the 8th New
York Battery.

CHAPTER XXV,
Town oF McDoxNoucH.

C DONOUGH, the 13th of the Trwensy Tomwnships

was formed from Preston April 17, 1816, and
derives its name from Commodore Macdonough of the
United States Navy, but retains 2 slight orthographi-
cal change. It is an interior town, lying south-west
of the center of the county, and in the south-west
corner of the Zwenty Zownships, It is bounded on
the north by Pharsalia, on the east by Preston, on the
west by German, and on the south by Smithville.
The surface is hilly and in some places broken by deep
ravines and sharp ridges extending north and south.
It is well drained by numerous streams, the principal
of which are Genegantslet creek, flowing south
through the west part, and Ludlow and Bowman
crecks in the south and east, all of which are confu-
ents of the Chenango. Genegantslet Lake in the
west part is a fine sheet of water, covering about rgo
acres. It is about a mile long and half a mile wide.
It is fairly well stocked with fish, principally pickere],
perch and bass. Salmon trout were introduced four
years ago. Ludlow Pond ™ the south part occupies g
deep indentation and is surrounded by primitive
forests. It covers about so acres. Genegantslet
creek furnishes some valuable mill sites, and the
other streams less valuable ones.

It is mostly underlaid by the rocks of the Catskill
Group, in which quarries have been opened on the
Genegantslet; one south of the gristmill in Mec-
Donough village, on the place of Monroe Fernalld,
which was opened 1878, and from which some excel-
lent flagging stone is obtained ; another is located
about a mile below the village, on the farm of William
L. Browne, and has been worked more or less for a
great many years, but not much latterly,  Stone well
adapted to flagging, curbing and, though more rarely,
building purposes has been obtained from it. The
stone is of good quality and easily wrought.

The soil is mostly a slaty loam, of good quality,
though better suited to the purposes of the dairy than
to tillage; and notwithstanding the unevenness and
great prevalence of surface rock, rendering much
of it unfit for the plow, there is but little land that
cannet be profitably turned into pasture. Dairying is
the chief, almost exclusive branch of agriculture. The
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dairies are mostly private. There are three cream-
eries in the town : the Darling creamery at East Mec-
Donough, which is owned by Milton Darling, by
whom it was built in the spring of 1878, and received
in 1879 the milk of about 350 cows; another three
miles north-west of East McDonough, built some
twelve years ago ‘and now owned by Asa Daniels,
which made in 1879 about 100 pounds of butter per
day; and a third in the south part of the town, about
two miles from McDonough village, which was bult
in the spring of 1879 by the Wightman Bros.

In 1875 the population of the town was 1,271; of
whom 1,236 were native, 35 foreign. and all white.
Its area was 24,299 acres; of which 17,885 were im-
proved; 6,119 woodland; and 295 otherwise un-
mproved. The cash value of farms was $8cg,520; |
of farm buildings other than dwellings, $116,045; of
stock, 142,678; and of tools and implements, $40,-
754. The amount of gross sales from farms was
$94,730.

There are nine common school districts in the
town, each of which has a school-house within the
town. ‘The number of children of school age residing
n the distriets Sept. 30, 1877, was 424.  During the
year ending Sept. 30, 1878, there were six male and
fourteen fernale teachers employed, ten of whom-
were licensed; the number of children residing in the
districts who attended school was 369, of whom eleven
were under five or over twenty-one years of age; the
average daily attendance during the year was 196,592 ;
the number of volumes 1n district libraries was 570, |
valued at $r140; the nomber af school-houses was
nine, all frame, which, with the sitcs, embracing 1

acre and 111 rods, valued at $43s5, were valued at
$2,960; the assessed value ol taxable property in the
districts was $470,719. The number of children
between eight and fourteen years of age residing in
the districts Sept. 30, 1877, was 133, of whom 132
attended district school during fourteen weeks of that

year.
Receipts and Dishursements for School Purpases :
Amount on hand Oct. 1, 1876... .. .. ...% 1202 }
“ appertioned to districts 1,188.25
Proceeds of Gospel and School Lands. . . |, 99.62 |
Rased by tax........ ... .. ... ...... 258.99 |
From teachers’ board.......... .. ..... 337.00
“ othersources..................... 375
Total. .. ... ..o L $1,890.63
Paid for teachers’ wages, ............... $r,703.12
“  school apparatus.........,...... .22
“ *“  housecs, sites, fences, out-
buildings, repairs, furniture, &c...... o188 |
Paid for other incidental expenses. . ..., .. 83.80
Amount remaining on hand Oct, 1, 1877... 19.61
Total ... $1,899.63

SETTLEMENTS.—The settlement of this town was
begun in 1795, in which year several had located here,
among whom were Sylvanus Moore, James Talmadge,
Nathaniel Locke, Captain Joshua A. Burke, Loring
and Emory Willard, and Henry W. Ludlow.

From a written account of his father's settlement
here, prepared in 1879, by William S. Moore, in his
79th year, who is perhaps the best living authority
with regard to the carly settlement of this town, and
to which we have been kindly permitted to refer, it
appears that Sylvanus Moore made the first settle-
ment.  Sylvanus Moore emigrated from Simsbury,
Comn,, in 1795, with the intention of locating at Ox-
ford, where there was then bhut one frame house,
that of Benjamin Hovey's, but the prevalence of fever
and aguec along the river bottoms induced him to
change his purpose. Tn Oxford he met Henry .
Ludlow, from New Vork, who had come on for the
purpese of promoting the settlement of a large tract
of land owned by his father in thistown. TFrom over-
tures made by Mr. Ludlow, among them a promise to
speedily erect a saw-mill on the tract, Mr, Moore con-
cluded to look at the land. He penctrated five miles
into the wilderness, following a line of marked trees,
before he found a desirable location.  He contracted
for one hundred acres, to which he soon after added
another one hundred, in the south-east part of the
town, the farm which is now occupied in part by
Perry Tillotson, on which he continued to reside till
his death, at the age of 81 years, and is buried in the
cemetery on the farm.  He was then a young, single
man, without a dollar to apply on the purchase price
of his farm.  His entire wealth consisted of his
clothes, an ax and a few shillings in money. With
the latter he procured a few days rations in Qxford,
and started in early spring with a stout heart, a strong
purpose and resolute will to wrestle with the harsh
conditions which surrounded his future home. His
land was densely covered with beech, maple, black
cherry, basswood and ash, which was the prevailing
timber in this section. His first work, as in all the
new settlements in this country, was to roll up a log
cabin and clear a spot for his first crops. This ac-
complished, he returned late in the fall to Oxford and
taught school during the winter. The money thus
eamned was applied to the building of 2 house on his
lands, and while this was in progress, in December,
1797, he married Flizabeth, daughter of Sclomon
Curtis an early settler one and one-half miles east of
Oxford, on the farm now cccupied by Andrew Morey.
Their wedding tour consisted of the journey to their
wilderness home. By what mode of conveyance the
journey was made we are not advised. This was the
first marriage contracted in the town.

Mz, Moore soon succeeded to the agency of Mr,
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Thomas Ludlow’s lands in this town, the son of that
gentleman having become, by dissipated habits, inca-
pacitated for that trust. After the completion of the
State road to Ithaca he opened a public house to ac-
commodate the tide of emigrants which passed over
it in search of homes in the Genesee country. The
Increasing travel and new accessions to the settle-
ments soon necessitated an addition to his house.
This was the first public house n the town, and was
opened in 1799. M, Moore continued to dispense
these hospitalities for many years.

Having paid for his farm, and raised sons large
enough to undertake its management, he relinquished
the farm to them and bought the Ludlow mill property
together with ohe hundred acres of land, and devoted
himaself to its management. He soon rebuilt the mill
and purchased an additional three hundred and eighty
acres of land, mostly covered with pine timber, so
that he was able to supply the demand for lumber.
This saw-mill was buiit by Henry W. Ludlow in 1798,
on the outlet of Ludlow Pond, named from the
builder of the mill. Tt was the first mill in the town
and tended largely to promote the settlements in this
locality. Mr. Moore still continued to invest in lands
until he had acquired 1,100 acres free from debt.

He was early commissioned captain of a military
company, then an office of no little distinction, and
held his commission until he became the oldest mem-
ber of his regiment. He represented the town as
‘Supervisor some eight or ten years, and was magistrate
for a number of years.

The great abundance of game and fish in the forests
and streams vastly mtigated the privations to which
the early settlers were exposed ; indeed without them
the settlement and subjugation of this wilderness
would have been well nigh impossible with the class
of people who generally braved the trials and dangers
incident thereto, as most of them were utterly destitute
of means and depended largely upon these as a means
of subsistence, especially during the earlier years of
their settlement. Most of the early settlers therefore
became more or less expert as marksmen.  The gun
was as indispensable as the implements of husbandry,
not only as an aid in furnishing the means of subsist-
ence, but also as a means of protection against the
beasts of prey which infested the forests and were a
constant source of alarm for many years,

On one oecasion Mr. Moore was reminded during
the early part of his settlement that the meat tub was
getting low ; so at the close of his day’s labor he re-
paired to the woods with his gun and soon had the
good fortune to start a deer, which he speedily shot.
He was quickly on the spot and to his surprise he
found that though he had seen but one, he had shot
two, which lay within a rod of each other.  His at-

tention was attracted by a rustling in the bushes near
by and he discovered a third deer, which was rising to
its feet,  He instantly grasped it and with a tremen-
dous effort succeeded in holding it till he cut its
throat. Thus he had the satisfaction of carrying
home three full grown deer, which was sufficient to
replenish his meat tub and supply his neighbors be-
sides.

Mr. Moore’s wife was truly a help-mate.  She was
a woman of great energy and perseverance, as well as
amiability, and greatly assisted by her industry in pay-
ing off the indebtedness on the homestead ; for in
addition to her domestic duties, including the manu-
facture of cloth from flax, a very essential crop, from
which the clothing for the family was made, she also
found time to assist her husband in various ways with
his work of clearing up the land, and to weave for her
neighbors who did not have looms. One season,
while she had the care of five children, she carded,
spun and wove two hundred pounds of wool for Mr,
Ludlow, thus helping to make the last payment on
their farm.  Mrs. Moore was very skiilful and success-
ful in the treatment of disease and during the early
years of settlement her aid was frequently called into
requisition 1n criticat and dangerous cases, so that
for many years, when professional aid was not easily
obtained, she supplied quite satisfactorily that
deficiency. Her oldest daughter has in her possession
an old account book of her mother’s which contains a
record of one hundred and forty-four births which she
attended professionally, and this number does not in-
clude the many for which payment was made at the
time and of which no record was kept,  She died in
1822, at the age of 44 years.

After the death of his first wife Mr. Moore married
Miss Polly Coville, who 15 still living in Oxford, with her
son, Thoraas, aged 8¢ years. He had six children by
his first wife, Eliza T., William S., Nathaniel Locke,
Joshua Burke, Lysander and Cynthia H.; and three
by his sccond, Mary, Thomas and George.  Eliza 'I',,
who was born March zo, 1799, wasthe fust white child
born in the town of McDonough. She is still living
in the town.  She married Daniel Smith, who died
where she now lives, Sept. z5, 1877, Willlam S,
married Mercy Hayes and settled in Guilford, where
he still lives. Nathaniel Locke married Polly Palmer
of Rochester, where he was then teaching school
He settled and still lives in McDonough, where his
wife died Sept. 15, 1877.  Joshua Burke died young
and unmarried.  Lysander married Esther Willcoy,
with whom he is now living in McDonough, where
they first settled and have lived 51 years. Cynthia
married Vinson Loomis and settled in Smithville,
where both died, She died Aug. 8, 1839. Mary
married Edward Curtis and is living in Washington,
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D. C. Thomas marned Maria Randall, and after her
death, Elizabeth Dushong. He is now living in Ox-
ford. George married Lorette Widger and is living
in the Western States.

Jonah Moore, brother of Sylvanus, came in some
three or four years later and settled on the farm ad-
joining his brother's on the east, where Peter Sharpe
now lives. He was drowned in the Chenango at Ox-
ford some sixty-five years ago, under circumstances
which induced the belief that he was murdered. He
martied, shortly before coming here, Marcia Pierce,
by whom he bad ten children: Lyman, who died in
Oxford, anmarried, when a young man ; Chester, who
married Patty Cleveland and lived and died m the
townin 1876 ; Phebe, who died young and unmarried ;
Stoughton, who married Mara Sherburne, of Sher-
burne, and lived and died in St. Cathatine’s, Canada;
Sylvanus, who went South and married there; Barney,
who married and removed to the west part of the
State and died there; James, who married, hived and
died in the West ; Henry, who died unmarried at an
advanced age ; Zalmon, who married Hannak Will-
cox and lived and died in the West, and Marcia, who
died in the West, unmarried.

james Talmadge, Nathaniel Locke and Captain
Joshua A. Burke settledin the same locality and with-
mn a mile of Sylvanus Moore, the former on the place
now owned by H. O. Curtis, of Oxford, in the east
part of the town. His death was the first in the town.
Tocke afterwards removed to Oxford and died there.
Burke settled in the locality of Ludlow Pond, where
C. Eecleston now lives.  He taught the first school
in the town, and afterwards removed to New Hamp-
shire.

Loring and Fmory Willard were young, single men,
and brothers, They removed about 1801 to Cayuga,
on the east shore of Cayuga Lake, where they mar-
ried, raised up famibes, and were active participants
in the events connected with the emly settlement of
the town of Aurelius, and where Jdescendants of thewrs
still live. Lorning died there m 1843,

Henry Ludlow settled at the head of Ludlow Pond,
but there is nothing left to mark the locality of his
settlement. He buwlt on the outlet of that Pond, and
on the site of the one now owned by Stephen L. Ec-
cleston, the first saw-tnill, and the first mill of any
kind in the town, as before noted.  He also kept in
his house the first store i the town.  He opened it
in 1802, but kept it only a short time. Tt is pre-
sumed that he kept the goods mostly for the accom-
modation of those in his employ and the new settlers
then coming in.  He held the agency for the sale of
the lands of his father, Thomas Ludlow, tili dissipa-
tion unfitted lum for that office.  He died on the
limits of Norwich, Sept. 7, 1814, aged 4o.

Ephraim Fish and Nehemiah Dunbar came n soon
after Moore, and settled on adjoining farms on the
ald State road, about three miles east of McDonough
village, Fish on the farm now occupied by Ira Hiller,
and Dunbar where Charles Dunning now lives. Reu-
ben and Benjamin Fish were sorns of Ephraim, and
Ephraim Fish now living in MecDonough is a grand-
son; but none of his children are living. Dunbar
died where he settled and left a somewhat numerous
family. His chiidren were:  Polly, who was born in
Greenfield, N. Y., June 16, 1796, married Walter
Oyshterbanks and settled in the town, and after the
death of her husband, June 12, 1862, went West and
died m Ann Arbor, April 13, 1872; Sally, who mar-
ried Friend Hayes and is living in Guilford, having
again married since the death of her first husband;
Hannah, who married and settled in Oxford and died
there; Willard, who married “Hopy,” daughter of
Daniel Matteson, and lived and died m the town;
Cynthia, who married Henry Hamulton, settled on
the old homestead, and afterwards removed to Cort-
land county, where she now resides; and Samantha,
who marned Prince Hiller, settled in McDonough,
and is now living m Smithville,

Benjamm Ketchum and his brother-in-law, Benja-
min Kenyon came in about 1766, and settled on ad-
joining farms about four miles south-east of Me-
Donough village, Ketchum on the farm now owned
by Ameha Dailey and occupied by Charles Curtis,
and Kenyon on the farm now occupied by the Wight-
brothers. Ketchum afterwards removed to
Smithville, and after fow or fiveyearsto the springsin
the south edge of McDonough and died there. His
wife was probably the first white female who diedin the
Ketchunr's children were: John, who re-
moved to Ohio when a young man ; Isaac, who mar
ried a Hotchkiss and settled In Snuthwille, afterwards
retnoved to Binghamton, but died m Smithville while
on a wisit Dec 17, 1873, aged 77 ; and Sally, who
martied Hiram Read and settled on a part of the
Ketchum farm in Smithwlle. They afterwards re-
moved to the town of Greene, where both died only a
few years ago. Benjamin Kenyon died near where
he settled, near the springsin McDonough. His chil-
dren were : John, who removed to Onondaga county
on becoming of age, and is now living in Niagara
county; Polly, who married Amos Burdick and re-
moved to 1llineis, and subsequently to Michigan,
where she died ; Hannah, who went to Onondaga
county, and married there ; Israel, who married Sally
Philley and settled in McDonough, where both now
live; Singleton, who married Susan Hiller, and set-

man

town.*

* French says her death was the first m the town ; but Lysander Mome,
son of Sylvanus, says that 13 not the fact—that James Talmadge was the first
person who died in the tewn
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tled and is now living in McDonough ; and Lydia,
who married a man named Allen, and lived and died
in Cortland county.

William Mead, who soon after removed from the
town, and Joseph and Ransom Cook, brothers, came
in about 1798, the latter from Simsbury, Conn.  Joseph
Cook settled a half mile westof Sylvanus Moore, and
Ransom on the farm adjoining his on the north,
where he and his wife died. Their brother John
came in soon after, and he and Joseph removed to
the town of Franklin in Delaware county. Their
father, Ebenezer Cook, came in some twenty years
after, and settled a little north of Sylvanus Moore's,
on land which now forms a part of Ll Corbin’s farm.
His wife died in the town, but he returned to Con-
necticut before her death and died there. He was
poor and lived mostly with his children. None of
Ransom’s children avc left here. They removed to
Ohio, some before and some after his death. Two
or three of the family are now living there.

Other settlers of about this period were Kdward
Colburn, John Anderson, Daniel Wainwright and M.
Turner, Wainwright settled, but remaned only a
short time, about a mule east of McDonough village,
on the farm afterwards occupied by William Norton,
who came in from Vermont about 1803 or’4,  One son,
William, is now living 1n German, aged about eighty.

The first settler on the site of McDonough village
was a man named Dibble, who came in about 18cs.
He was an auger maker and followed that vocation to
some extent after settling here.  He lived a good many
years in the town, but removed previous to his death.

Adam Opyshterbanks,* who was born in Fairfield,
Conn., March 28, 1769, came in from the east about
1808 and settled on the chestnut ridge, about two
mites east of McDonough village, on the farm after-
wards occupied by Adam Stanley, an early blacksmith
at McDonough village, and at present by Leander
Beebe. He afterwards removed to the locality of
Milo Webb's mill, a little east of the village, and died
there, Augnst 2, 1826. His children were Abby, who
martied Roswell Button, lived at first with her father,
afterwards removed to Pharsalia, and subsequently to
Pennsylvania, where she now resides; Laura, who
married Albert Allen and settled first in McDonough,
but is now living in Michigan; Betsey, who married
Nathan Daniels, settled in McDonough, and after-
wards removed to Wayne county; Aaron, who mar-
ried a Sibley and settled in Wayne county, now living
in Michigan; and Walter, who was born in New
Baltimore, N. Y., August 18, 1792, married Polly Dun-

#Tlis name 15 spelled as above i old records and upon the meanument
which marks his grave, but the descendants now omit the prefix OQpshrer
which Walter O. Banks of German, a grandson says is simply a nick nama
appended to Banks, which is the conect name, and uses the imnal letter of
Oypshler as a middle imtal,

bar, and settled and died in German, June rz, 1862,
Numerous descendants of this {family are scattered
over the country; but only three are living in this
State, Harmon O. Banks in Greene, Loren O. Banks
in Wayne county, and Walter O. Banks in German,
all sons of Walter and grandsons of Adam.

=

Town OFricErs.—The first town meeting was held
at the house of Sylvanus Moore, March 4, 1817,
James Sowles was chosen moderator and Amos Ran-
dall to preside. The following named officers were
then elected :  James Sowles, Supervisor ; Gates Will-
cox, Clerk; Richard Baldwin,

Henry Willlams and
Alexander Daniels, Assessors; Daniel Baldwin and
William Beardsicy, I'oormasters; John Willcox, Isaac
J. Stratton and Darius Babeock, Commissioners of
Highways ; John Gale, Ransford B. Comstock and
Sylvanus  Moore, Commissioners of Schools; Ira
Hayes, Hubbard Beckwith and Gershom Noyes, Con-
stables ; Richard Baldwin, Town Agent; Nehemiah
Randall, Josiah Randall and Daniel Raymond, Fence
Viewers; Daniel Matthewson, Darius Babcock and
Nehemiah Dunbar, Pound Keepers, and it was voted
that their respective barnyards be a common pound ;
and Nehemiah Randall, Amos Randall, Gershom
Noyes, Jr.,, Amos Carruth, James Sowles and Sylvanus
Moore, Inspectors of Common Schools.

The following list of the Officers of the Town of
MeDonough, for the year 1880-'81, was kindly fur-
nished by Edward A. Gault:—

Supervisor—I'rank ‘T, Corbin.

Town Clerk—Edward A. Gault.

Justices—V. C. Emerson, Stephen Lewis, P. W.
Twichell and . 1. R. Lewis; Seymour Martin after
Jan. 1, 1881,

Assessors—Kmerson A. Gale, Merville E. Harring-
ton, Don D. Corbin.

Commissioner of Highways—Seth Witlcox,

Ovwerseers of the Poor—1Israel Kinyon, D. Q. Gale.

Constables—Ansel E. Beckwith, Frank S. Martin,
Jackson McMinn, Jeremiah Calbert, George W, Roe,

Collector—Nathaniel C. Thornton,

Inspectors of Election—Alvin W. Barrows, Albert
B, Merriam, Henry Dolan.

“Town Audifors—Henry M. Lamb, William J.
Dailey and Lewis P. Blair.
Sealer of Weights and Measures—Levi Sanford.
Game Constable—Benjamin L. Thompson.

Excise Conunissioners—George W. Crandall, Wm.
M. Barnes, Willlam Hayden.

At the annual election held April 29, 1817, and the
two succeeding days, the following votes were cast :—

Faor DeWitt Clinton, for Governor......., ... 28
“ John Taylor, for Licut-Govemar....... 2y
“  fohn Lounsberry, for Senator. ..., ....,. 26
“  Jabez D. Hammond, for Senator........ 26
“ Tilly Lynde, for Assemblyman.......... 25
% Perez Randall, for Assemblyman........ 25

“ Simon G. Throop, for Assemblyman. . ... 25
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Names of persons liable to serve as jurors in Mc-
Donough, July 1, 1857:—

Levi Carruth, William Beardsley, James Bixby,
Daniel Baldwin, Nehemiah Dunbar, Benjamin Kin-
yon, Daniet Matthewson, Amos Randall, James Sowles,
John Willcox, Stephen Curtis, Jesse Beardsley, Hub-
bard Beckwith, Isaac Baldwin, Alexander Daniels,
Diodate Morgan, Jabez Perkins, Ichabod Randall,
Gates Willcox, Henry Williams, Elias Button, Darius
Babcock, Richard Baldwin, Elijah Baldwin, Benjamin
Enos, Sylvanus Moore, Alpheus Raymond, Isaac J.
Stratton, Reuben Willcox.

McDorxoucsn VILLAGE.

McDonough is situated in the west partaof the town
on Genegantslet Creek, from which it extends nearly
a mile west, and is distant about ¢4 miles from Ox-
ford. It contains fwo churches, (Baptist and Metho-
dist Episcopal,} a district schoel, one hotel, which was
built about 1844, by John F. Hill, has since received
several additions, and is now kept by Wilham L,
Brown, five stores, two tanneries, two saw-mills, one
grist-mill, a woolen-mull, four blacksmith shops, (kept
by Williamm R. Runyan, Wilham Amold, Levi San-
ford and Bruce Sanford,) two wagon shops, (kept by
Henry M. Lamb and Milton A. Pike,) two cooper
shops, (kept by Thomas Dunning and Nathaniel
Thornton,} a harness shop kept by Lafayette Bennett,
(this business was carried on by Willilam Smith from
about 1840 till his death, March 14, 1878, He was
succeeded by his son Charles E., who continued it one
year. Bennett carne in 1878,) and a population of
about 300,

MercHANTS.—The first merchant at McDonough,
was John Fisk Hill, a native of Athol, Mass., who
came to Oxford about 1818 and did business there
with Epaphras Miller two years. He then removed to
McDonough and commenced mercantile business in
the old red store which occupied the site of the store
now occupied by Joseph G. Brown, in company with
Epaphras Miller of Oxford, whose interest he bought
after about two years. In 1834 his brother Jacob P.
Hill, who had clerked for him three years, became his
partner ; and in 1837 the latter bought John F.’s in-
terest and associated with himself Martin Daniels,
whose interest he bought after three years. Jacoh P
Hill has since carried on business alone. The build-
ing in which John F. Hill commenced business has
heen twice moved and is now occupied as a dwelling
by Nathaniel Thorington. He built the store now
occupied by Mr, Brown about the time he dis-
solved partnership with Mr. Miller.,

John Hill, father of John F. and Jacob P. Hill,
came in from Richmond, N, H., in 1817, arriving at
Preston in February of that year. The following
March he removed to Chestnut ridge, two miles north-

east of McDonough village, where J. C. Simpson now
lives. He died there Oct. 13, 1852, aged 8o. His
wife, Susanna, died in the house of her son, Jacob P,
in apparent good health, while engaged in ordinary
conversation, Dec. 24, 1846, aged 71. His children
were, besides John ¥. and Jacob P., Susan, who mar-
ried Ira Cole, and is living in the West, aged near go ;
Chester, who died .Dec. 1, 1873, aged 71, and Eme-
line B., his wife, Jan. 8, 1852, aged 45 ; Sophia, who
matried Samuel Bacheller, and died Oct. 24, 1855,
aged 5o, and her kusband Feb. 24, 1844, aged 46;
Edwin, now living in Norwich; and Theodore, the
only one of the children born in McDonough, also
living in Norwich,

The next merchant to John F. Hill was Ransom
Rathbone, who lived and was engaged 1n mercantile
business i Oxford, and owned in McDonough a
paper mill, which was built by John Nevins, in 1828,
and burned about 1836-"40; about 1833 Mr. Rath-
bone sent here his son Henry W., who carried on the
mercantile business till his father’s removal to Elmira,
about 1839-"40. Ar. Rathbone built the store now
occupied by V. C. Emerson.

Tmmediately after Rathbone discontinued, a “com-
munity store” was started by an association of farm-
ers, under the firm name of Idrew, Lull, Birdlebough
& Co., which was managed by Horatio Mack, assisted
by Alex. Hamilton, and continued two or three years.
About this petiod, from 18402, Nelson Coville, a
native of the town, was also engaged in trade here.
His father, Micah Coville, who died here July 16,
1869, aged 87, butlt the first frame house in McDon-
ough village, in 1818; and Leroy, son of Micah
Coville, who was born in 18£8, is said to have been
the first white child born in the village, Nelson died
Nov. 1g, 1858, aged 47. The house, to which addi-
tions have subsequently been made, is still standing,
and is now occupied as a residence by Charles K.
Greene,

Theodore Hill, brother of John F. and Jacob P.
Hiil, was engaged in trade here from about 1841 to
1862, and was assoclated from about 1842-'7 with
Martin *Daniels, Samuel R. Blivin opened a shoe
store about 1863, and sold about 1866 to Randall
Perry, who sold to Stephen Lewis after about a year.
Lewis, after a year or two, took in a partner and add-
ed groceries to the business, which he continued till
1875, when he sold to Seymour Martin, who added
dry goods and clothing, and in February, 1846, sold
to Eneas .. Ensign and James V. Galpin, who added
drugs, and in September, 1877, sold to Galpin & Dai-
Zey. TIn August, 1877, Ensign and Galpin sold their
stock of hoots, shoes and ready-made clothing to
Lewis &, Burdick, who is a son of William R. Bur-
dick, of McDonough village, and who 1s still engaged
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in the business, having added hides and leather
thereto.

John Ostrander came in from Tully in the winter
of 1869 and opened a hardware store and tin shop,
and Oct. 1, 18771, sold to feseph (. Brown, a native
of Smithville, who still carries on the business.

Varanes (. FEmerson, general merchant, com-
menced business here June 14, 1858, in company with
Eleazer Isbell, whose interest he bought in December,
1865, since which time he has carried on the business
alone, Mr, Emerson is a son of Moses 5. Emerson,
a native of Candia, N. H., who removed thence to
McDonough in 1818, He was a carpenter and joiner
and mill-wright, and followed that vocation in connec-
tion with the management of a small farm of thirty
acres, In the village of McDonough, till 1846. He
died of apoplexy Sept. 25, 1856, aged 51, while on a
visit to his native place, but his remains were brought
here for interment. FEliza, his wife, died March 22,
1874, aged 6g. He had four children besides Va-
ranes . Maria T, who died in infancy, Elizabeth
8., widow of David R. Randall, living in Wilkesbarre,
Penn., Lucinda F., who married Jonathan C. Jones,
of German, where she lived and died m May, 1878,
and Herbert, who is now living on the homestead,

PostMasTERS.— The post-office at McDonough
was established about 1825, and Jobhn F. Hill, who
was instrumental in securing its establishment was the
first postmaster and held the office till 1837, when his
brother, Jacob P., succeeded him, and held it till the
return. and re-appointment of Jobn ¥., who had spent
some five years in Catskill and Norwich, The latter
then held it till his death, Nov. 1, 1846, when his
brother Theodore was appointed and held the office
till 1861. He was succeeded by his brother, Jacob P.
Hill, who has since held the office, with the exception
of 16 months under Andrew Johnson’s administration,
when Varanes C. Emerson held it.  Mr. Hill was re-
appointed within fourteen days after Ulysses S. Grant
was inaugurated President. It is a noteworthy fact
that, with the exception of these sixteen months, the
office has been in the hands of the Hill family since
its establishment.

When the office was first established the mail was
carried on horseback, in saddle-bags, from Oxford,
once a week, every Saturday, on the route from Ox-
ford to Cincinnatus. In 1848, on the completion of
the New York & Erie railroad to Binghamton, they
commenced, and still continue, to receive a daily mail
from Greene.

Puvsicians.—The first physician at McDonough
was probably Russel W. Morley, who was licensed in
New Hampshire and came from Athol, Mass., about
1818. He located on two acres, a mile east of Mec-

Donough village, which are now owned by Ross
Blivin. He afterwards removed to the village and
built the house where Mason Whipple now lives. He
practiced here more or less till his death, April 20,
1859, aged 74, or until incapacitated by age. Silas
G. Chappelle was practicing here as eatly as 1827,
Oct. gth of which year he joined the County Medical
Society. He practiced a few yvears and removed to
Penfield, Monroe county. FElam Bartlett and William
D). Purple, the latter now of Greene, practiced here a
short time between 1830 and 1840. Milton Mason,
of Preston, commenced practice here about 1840 and
continued till his death, Oct. 20, 1843.

Ephraim K. Frost, who was a physician, surveyor
and farmer, came from New Hawmpshire about 1833,
and followed all those vocations till 1854, when he re-
moved to Delaware county, Iowa, and died there a few
years ago. It is recollected that he had an inordi-
nate appetite for petty town offices,

Seneca Beebe came from Lincklaen in 1843 and ,
practiced till 1858, when he removed to Norwich and
practiced there, in Hamilton, Cincinnatus, and Ox-
ford successively, in each place about a year. From
Oxford he removed to Cincinnatus, and thence about
two years ago to Marathon, where he now resides.

Lneas L. Ensign, son of Solomon and [rene En-
sign, and the seventh of eight children, was born in
Pitcher, Sept. 8, 1830. His earlier life was spent on
the farm and ai scheol, surrounded by the best of
home influences. At the age of seventeen he began
teaching, and from that time till he was twenty-one
divided his time between teaching and dttending
school. At the age of twenty-one he commenced the
study of medicine under the instruction of Dr. Horace
Halbut, of Pitcher, and the following year placed
himself under the tutorship of his brother, Dr. Samuel
Ensign, of Freetown, Cortland county, with-whom he
completed his studies in 1856, in the spring of which
year he was graduated at the Albany Medical College,
where he attended two courses of lectures. Apml 1,
1857, he bought Seneca Beebe’s practice in McDon-
ough, where he has since been m active practice,

Luther James Purdy commenced practice here Jan,
I, 1871, and after two years removed to Smithville
Flats, where he has since practiced. Further mention
is made of him in connection with the history of
Smithville,

Lucian P. Fnsign, nephew of Dr, Eneas L. Ensign,
came in 1873 and practiced tll 1877, when he
removed to Nebraska,

Louts P. Blawr, the only other physician now prac-
ticing here, was born in Castle Creek, N. Y., July 8,
1854, and received his literary education at Bingham-
ton Academy. He commenced the study of medi-
cine in the Buffalo Medical College in 1874, and in
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1876 entered the Kentucky School of Medicine, where
he was graduated June 28, 1877. He commenced the
practice of his profession here in April, 1878.

I.awyERs.—Henry Welch, a native of this county,
came here from Smithville in 1862, and practiced law
one year. He removed to Norwich and subsequently
entered the army, and is now practicing in Jefferson
county. He is the only lawyer who has practiced at
McDonough.

MANUFACIURES, — There are but few if any vil-
lages of its size in the county whose manufacturing in-
terests have been as extensive and valuable as thosce
of McDonotigh, though it has lost much of its former
prestige.

The two tanneries are owned respectively by Mrs,
Jeremiah Wormugh and William R. Burdick. The
former was built, the mamn pat of it, in 1832, by
Nathantel Ensworth, who carried on the tanning busi-
ness one year, and sold te George and Charles Sher-
wood, who continued it three or four years. There
have been a good many chabges in proprictorship.
About 1820, Joshua Fish built a small tannery, which
forms a part of the present building. ITish was sue-
ceeded in the business by Ensworth i 1829. The
other tannery was built in 1841 by the present pro-
prietor, who formerly tanned Goo to 8co hides per
yea, though very little is now being done.

The saw-mills are owned respectively by Milo
Webb and Willilam R. Mygatt, the latter of Oxford.
The former, locaied on the Genegantslet, was built
by Witham Bartle, in £833, on the site of one built
by Adam Oyshterbanks about sixty years ago. It
contamns two saws, one upright and one circular.
The fall in the creek at this point 1s about ten feet.
The other saw-mill is situated on the outlet of Gene-
gantslet Lake, which has a fall of about twclve feet.
It was built about twenty years ago by Elihu Isbell,
and contains cne circular saw,

The grist-mill is a stone structure, situated on the
outlet of Genegantslet Lake, below the saw-mill on
that stream, and was bullt 61 or 62 vears ago by
‘Gates Willcox, on the site of a woolen-null erected
by him some years previously.™ It 1s now owned by
Charles Greene. It contains three run of stones,
which are propelled by a large overshot wheel, with a
fall of about 26 feet.

The woolen factory is owned by Mrs, Seneca
Beebe. Tt was buwlt in 1841 by Martin Dodge, on
the site of one built about sixty years ago by Harry
and Martin Dodge, brothers, who operated it some
fifteen years. It is located on the outlet, below the

*Sratement of William R. Burdick of McDonough  One authority con-
sulted says it occupies the site of a grist mill--the first m the town—built by
Gates Willcox in 18c8,

|
;
|
|

. grist-mill, and has a fall of twelve or fourteen feet. It
i 1s a small affair and is not doing much now.

Perhaps the most important of McDonough’s man-
ufacturing mdustrics was the foundry and machine
shop established in 1846 by Gilbert Sanford, who car-

" ried on the manufacture of edge tools, mull wwons, and

forks, axes and knives, employing four to eight men.
It was located on the outlet just below the woolen-
mill, and was carried away by the breaking of the
reservoir dam 1n 18638. A machine shop was estab-
lished on the outlet, between the woolen-mitl and the
grist-mill about 1824, by Jonathan Proctor, who car-

ried on the manufacture of edge tools some ten years.

(ritbert Sanford vecupied that bwlding- about four

t years before he erected (in 18306,) the one carried

i
|
|

away in 1868.
is left,

CHURCHES.— W Donough M. E. Church.—The first
class was formed in 1815, under the labors of Revs.
Geo. Harmon and Chas. Giles, and was composed of
six members, viz: Walter Oyshierbanks and his wife
Tolly, Jacob Nash and his wife Lovisa, William Alten
and his wife Susan.  Walter Oyshterbanks was chosen
the first class-leader, and was succeeded m that office
in 1847, by Curtis Smith. Soon after the formation
of the class, its numbers were augmented by Mary
Nash, daughter of Jacob Nash, Arthisia Hazen and
Mrs. Leonard, the latter of whom came on horseback,
by marked trees, to the log house of Walter Oyshter-
banks, the place of public worship.

At a meeting of the inhabitantsof the town of Me-
Donough and vicinity held pursuant to previous no-
tice in the school-house in McDonough village, Sept.
29, 1832, of which Rev. James Atwell and Walter
Oyshterbanks were chairmen, and William D, Purple,
secretary, the society of the Methodist Episcopad church
of the village of McDonough was organized, and Isaac
J. Stratton, Joseph J. Reed, Thomas Skillman, Wal-
ter Oyshterbanks and Elijah Gates were clected trus-
tees., This action was preparatory to the erection of
their present church edifice. The work of obtaining
subscriptions therefor was first commenced in Oct.,
1832, and $1,159.50 was raised.  Among the heaviest
subscribers were Walter Oyshterbanks, Isaac J. Strat-
ton, Martin Dodge, John F. Hill, and Richard Ray,
who subscribed respectively sums varying from $50 to
$150.

John F. Hill, William H. Bartle and Richard Saw-
telle were constituted a building committee. The
site for the church was deeded to the socicty by John
F. Hill, as a part {$50,) of his subscription of $150.
A receipt signed by Walter Oyshterbanks as Record-
ing Steward, May 15, 1833, shows that Isaac J. Strat-
ton had paid in all to that date $333, and two years’
labor. ‘The same record has also a statement from

It went to decay and no trace of 1t
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Isaac J. Stratton, acting trustee, that Walter Oyshter-
banks had paid $83, and had faithfully attended and
assisted in planning for the huilding of the church to
its completion. The list of subscriptions shows that
the entire community were very much interested in
the building of the church, undertaken as the enter-
prise was when the financial ability of the whole com-
munity was somewhat limited. The mason work was
done by Walter Oyshterbanks, Micah Coville and
Samuel Bacheller; the carpenter work, under the
supervision of Moses S. Emerson; and the joiner
work under the supervision of Lester Tinker. The
building of the church was begun in 1832, It was
finished in 1833, and dedicated Aug. 14, 1834. In
184950 it was thoroughly painted inside and out,
and a partition made Dbetween the entrance and
audience room. In 1869 the church was thorough-
ly renovated and repaired at a cost of about $7,500

During the summer and fall of 1870 the church at
Smithville Center, (a part of this charge,) was repaired
and beautified at a cost of about $706, and was re-
opened for worship Sept. 2g, 1870. Cyrus Hayes
was a prominent member of that church. He was
its Jeader for thirty years and held every office in its
gift with great acceptance. His death, which occurred
Aug. 8 1870, at the age of 66, was a severe blow to
the little band at whose head he had been so long.

The present (August, 187¢,) membership of the
church in McDonough is 95, and of the church in
Smithville, 57.

Curtis Smith continued to serve as class-leader till
March 30, 1869, when he was succeeded hy Francs
T. Hall,

Following is the succession of pastors from the
time the church was legally organized: James Atwell
and Nelson Round, 1832—33 ; William N. Pearne and
P. R. Kinne, 1833—4; William N. Pearne and Wil-
liam Wyatt, 1834—5; . 1), Mire and F. H. Stanton,
1835-6; Rosman Ingals and L. H Stanley, 18367 ;
C. L. North and Charles Burlingame, 1837-8; C. 1.
North, A. Brown and E. Colson, 1838-9; A G. Bur-
lingame and P. 8. Wordin, 1839—40; Charles Burlin-
game and Levi Pitts, 1840—1, in which year Mc-
Donough was constituted a station ; Elijah P. Beecher,
r841—3; James Atwell, 1843—4; Benjamin Elis,
1844-6; George Evans, 1846-7; (at the Conference
of 1847, McDonough and Smithville Center were
constituted a circuit ;) Elijah P. Beebe and George
Evaiis, 1847-8; Flijah P. Beebe and C. Burton, 3
months, 1848-¢g; Edward W. Breckinridge and 1.
Moon, 6 months, 1849-50; Wm. N. Pearne, 1851-3;
D. Thurston, 1853—5; R. O. Beebe, 1855-6; Robert
Townsend, 1856-7; Alonzo Benjamin, 1857-8; W.
VW. Andrews, 1858—g; W. W. Andrews and Enos
Puffer, 1859-60; O. Ellerson and FEnos Puffer,

186o—1; O. Ellerson, 1861-2; T. Willis, 1862—4,
W. R. Cochran, 1864-6; A. C. Snuth, 1866-8; W.
R. VanSchoick, 1868—71; E. W, Caswell, 1871-2; J.
B. Chynoweth, 1872-5; William Burnside, 1875-8;
and lsaac I’ Towner, the present pastor, who com-
menced his labors in April, 1878.*

The First Regular Baptist Society of MeDonough
was organized at 2 meeting “held at the stated place-
of public worship of said society,” Oct. 21, 1837.
Pardon C. Blivin and Oliver H. Reed were chosen
superintendents of election, and Samuel R. Blivin,
Russell W. ,T and lsaac R. Blivin were elected
trustecs.

The present house of worship occupied by this
soctety was built m 1841, Their first church is now
occupied as a dwelling by Levi Sanford.1

Easr McDoONOUGH.

East McDonough, situated near the center of the
east border of the town, contains one church, (Union)
a district school, which is kept in the basement of the
church, a small grocery, kept by Jeremiah Calvert, a
cheese factory and a population of 43.

Deacon Ehjah kept store here for
several years some twenty-five years ago, 1n the build-
ing now occupied as a dwelling by John Franklin. He
was succeeded by his son Giles, who traded three or
four years in the building in which the widow of
Edson Gale now hives, which then stood on the op-
posite side of the road from the old tavern stand, just
west of the house now gccupred by the widow of Rev.
Cyrus Steere.  The bulding was ongmally a barn or
shop and has been moved four times. Ephraim
Sprague, who came f[rom the east, opened a store
in the same building about 1865 and traded till his
death two or three years after. e kept a general
stock of goods and is the only one who has kept any
considerable store here. Philo Fosgate commenced
trading soon afte1 Sprague’s death, in the same build-
ing, which he removed to the corner opposite the old
tavern stand. He sold after two or three years to his
brothet-in-law, Elijah W. Thompson, who continued
the business till his death, Sept. 21, 1873. Jeremiah
Calvert, Jr., came here from McDonough village in
March, 1875, and has kept a small grocery since.

The post-office at East McDonough was established
about thirty vears ago, and Horace Corbin was the
first postmaster. He was succeeded by Stephen Ran-
dall, who held it from 1853 to 1857, when John Giles
Thompson was appomted and held the office till Dec.
31, 1861, when Stephen Randall was again appointed

Thompson

* French’s Gagetteer says ““the first religious association (M E.) was
formed 1 1758, We have no data by which to verify this statement

+ This name is orutted in the record of mcorporation

t Promised data with regard to this church have not been furmshed;
hence we are unable to give any additional mformation respecting it.
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and has held the office continuously since,  An office
was previously established a mile below East McDon-
ough and Benjamin Randall was the postmaster
there,

On a small stream emptying mte Ludlow Pond
outlet, about three miles south-east of McDonough
viliage, is a saw-mill owned by E. J. Spaulding and
built some 30 to 40 vears ago. On Bowman creek,
in the south-east part of the town, is a saw-mill which
is owned by Nathaniel Locke Moore. It was built
forty years ago or more,

There is a society of Free-Will Baptists in the
locality of East McDonough, whose ligtory dates back
to an early period; but unfortunately promised data
regarding it has for gome reason been withheld, The
first house of worship erected by this Soclety is sup-
posed to have been the first chorch in the town. It
stood in the north-cast part of the town, a mile west
of Steert’s Pond (a sheet of water covering some go
acres in the west edge of Preston,) and about a mile
north of the present church, which was bwlt in 1831
Elder Cyrus Steere was the first pastor,

The First Presbyterian Church of AcDonough was
organized July 28, 1814, by Rev. John Truair of
Sherburne, with fourteen members, who were mostly
from Massachusetts, and adopted the Congregational
form of government. In February, 1817, it united
with the Union Association and continued that con-
nection till the dissolution of that body in February,
1822, ‘The Church adopted the Presbyterian form
of government in October, 1826, and united with the
Preshytery of Chenango at the time of the first meet-
ing of that body after its organization, June 29, 1826.
April g, 1827, “the Presbyterian congregation of Me-
Donough met at the school-hounse in district No. 4,
for the purpose of organizing an incorporated religious
society.” Jonas Herrick was chosen moderator and
Samuel W. Kmghtsecretary of the meeting, and Jona-
than Proctor, Eliakim I.. Corbin, Levi Carruth, Samuel
W. Knight and Frederick G. —— were elected
trustees,

Rev. Nahum Gould was the first minister after its
union with the Presbytery of Chenango.  He officiated
as stated supply half the tune for three and one-
half years, from 182731, Rev. John Ivison officiated
half time for two and a half years from 1832-'35 ;
Rev. Hiram Dyer, one-fourth time for two and one-
third years, from 1836-'38 ; and Rev. Charles Bowies,
one-third time, for two and one-half years, from 1838-
41. The number of members in 1846 was 37. The
largest number reported at any time previous to that
time was 46, The chureh has several times received
aid from the American Home Missionary Society.
They built a house of worship 48 by 38 feet, with

steeple and gallery, in 1838, but it was not completed
in 1848.%

War or THE REBELLION—The part taken by this
town in aid of the war is one to which its inhabitants
may point with just pride. The town furnished six
men in excess of its various guotas. All the special
meetings called to consider the question of paying
bounties and to devise means for filling the guotas
weie held in the room of Varanes C. Emerson’s store,
which is hallowed by many of the gravest assoctations
of that historic pertod.

At a special meeting held Sept. 20, 1862, it was re-
solved to pay a bounty of $5¢ to each volunteer
applicd on the quota of the town under the call for
6oo,000 men after July 2, 186z, Eleazer Ishell, Eb
L. Corbin, Joseph L. Beebe, Jacob P. Hill and Asa M.
Daniels were appointed a committee to raise the
money and pay said bounties. Sept. 26, 1862, the
committee borrowed $2,000 of the Bank of Norwich
and gave their note therefor, payable in eighteen
months, They paid to each of 27 individuals $so,
and to each of 13 individuals, $48, making a total of
$1,974.

At a special meeting held Jan. 16, 1864, a bounty
of $323 was voted to each volunteer applied on the
quota of the town under the recent call, and Varanes
C. Kmerson, Stephen Lewis 2d, and Charles T Ackley
were empowered 1o raise the money, pay the bounties
and issue the bonds of the town for the amount neces-
sary, payable Feh. 1, 1875,

At a special meeting held April 6, 1864, the Board
of Town Auditors were anthorized to pay to each
volunteer applied on the gquotaunder the call for zo0,-
ooo men, 10 the number required to fill the quota, a
bounty not to exceed $qo0, and to raise the money on
the bonds of the town payable Feb. 1, 1865.

At a special meeting held June 21, 1864, the Board
were authorized to pay a bounty not to exceed $soo,
to each volunteer, or the person procuring him, to the
number necessary to fill the quota under a call which
was then anticipated, and to raise the money on
bonds payable Jan. 1, 1866.  August 6, 1864, it was
resolved to modify this resolution so as to authorize
the Board to raise on bonds payable Jan. 1, 1867,
such sum as was necessary to pay each volunteer or
person procuring him, credited on this quota, not to
exceed $1,000 for three years’ men, $700 for two
years’ men, and $400 for one year’s men ; also to pay
to each person furnishing a substitute credited on this
quota, $600 for three years’, $400 for two years, and
$200 for one year'smen.  Sept. 6, 1804, the resolutions
of this latter date were so amended as to authorize

# Hotchhin's History of Western New York, from which, and the Record
of Reliztous Trcovporations wn Chenango county, the facts here stated are
obtamed.
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the Board to pay $1,000 each to thenumber necessary
o make up the deficiency on the quota.

At a special meeting held Jan. 2, 1865, the Board
were authorized to raise on bonds payable Jan. 1o,
1866, and pay to each volunteer credited on the quota
of the town under the call for 300,000 men, for one,
two or three years, a sum not to exceed $1,000; and
to each person furnishing a substitute applied on that
quota, $8oc for three years’, $6oo for two years’ and
$400 for one year's men, provided that no such person
should receive more than the actual amount paid by
him for such substitute. 1t was also resolved to pay
$600 to any person residing in the town and liable to
the draft, who, during the year 1865z, should procurea
substitute credited to the town to apply on its quota
under any anticipated call, or 50 much of that sum as
was actually paid by the person procuring such substi-
fute.

Statement of bonds 1ssued by the town of McIon-
ough in aid of the war:—

Feb. 1, 1864, payable Feb. 1, 1865...... $ 6,137.c0
Aprilg, ¢ i B 2,000.00
July 1, ¢ “  Jan. 1, 1865 and 66 14,275.00
Aug. 6, * i “or, 1867 ... .. 0,520.00
Jan. 10, 1863, ¢ “ 10, 1866 ...... [2,000.00
Feb. 7, * “ ¥o1, 1867 ..., .. 1,800.00

Total. ... oo $45,732.00

The number of men enlisted for and in the inter-
est of this town was 87, of whom 14 enlisted in Me-
Donough and 67 in other towns in the county, and 16
were substitutes. Only one man was drafted in the
town, and he was killed ; and there was only one who
received neither town nor county bounty, Of the
number, not less than 51 were farmers; ¢ were sail-
ors; and the vest represented some thirteen different
vocations. The number who enlisted for three years
was 72, for two years, 1, and for one year, 13. They
were distributed among the various branches of the
service as follows: Infantry regiments—1iz4th, 12;
goth, 7; 161st and 144th, each, 2; 27th, 76th, and
188th, each, 1; and 18g5th, 3. Cavalry orgamzations
—1oth, rzth, 8th and 22d, each, 5. Artillery organ-
wzations—16th, 7. Navy, 5. Unassigned, 17 ; and un-
known, 8.

STATEMENT OF BOUNTIES RECEIVED.

25 received a bounty of ... Ll $ s5o.00

18 :: : ................ 323.00
LR 400.00

16 i e Boo.co
4 i e 8g0.00
6 “ E 000.00
1 “ E 425.00
8 «“ e 950,00
5 “ LT N 1,000,00
1 received no bounty.

|
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CHAPTER XXVI.

Town oF GERMAN.

ERMAN was formed from DeRuyter March 21,
1806, and derives its name from General Obadizh
German, an early and prominent settler in the town
of North Norwich, who 1s variously stated by different
authors to have been “the original owner of the town-
ship,” and “a former inhabitant.” The records show
that the tract of land embraced 1in the town of Ger-
man was patented to John W, Watkins June 14, 1793.
[t is the southern portion of the Gore, and was ongi-
nally named Brake! Zewnshp, Otsclic was taken
off March 28, 1817 ; lancklaen, April 12, 1823, and
the southern part of Pitcher, Teb, 13, 1827. 4tis the
central town on the west border of the county. Its
surface 15 hilly and abundantly watered by numerous
small brooks, affluents of the Genegantslet, those in
the north and east uniting to form Five-Stream Creek,
all of them flowing in a southerly direction,

It 13 underlaid by the rocks of the Catskill, and
Portage and Ithaca groups, those of the former cover-
ing the eastern, and those of the latter the western
and major portion of the town. A quarry has been
opened in the former, a little east of Five Corners, in
the north-east part of the town, on the farm of Lean-
der Tice, from which excellent stone for underpin-
nings has been tzken in considerable quantities; and
in the latter, about three-fourths of a mile south-east
of German, on the farm of Calvin Hathaway, from
which considerable quantities of flagging and building
stone have been obtained, though it has not been
worked for several years. The soil in the villageis a
rich alluvion, while that on the hills is a sandy and
gravelly loam, moist, and well adapted to grass cul-
ture. Dairying is the chief industry.  There are two
creamceries in the town, one at Five Corners, owned
by Mr. Hefty, by whom it was built in 1877 ; and one
about four miles east of German, which was buiit in
1878, and is now owned and operated by the Messrs,
Wightman Brothers. In the former butter alone is
made ; but in the latter, both butter and cheese,

In 1875 the population of the town was 66z ; of
whom 645 were native, zo foreign, 664 white and
colored. Its area was 17,080 acres; of which 11,633
were improved; 4,873 woodland, and 580 otherwise
unimproved. The cash value of farms was $45%,900;
of farm huildings, other than dwellings, $68,6350; of
stock, $88,133 ; of tools and implements, $13,870.

There are eight common school districts in the
town, each of which has a school house within the
town. The number of children of school age residing
in the districts Sept. 30, 1877, was 2z9. During the
year ending Sept. 30, 1878, there were five male and



